EUROPEAN CLASSICS

XXVI. LUBECK

The Free City of Lubeek—German Liibeck
—existed as a stamp issuing entity until
December 31, 1867, when it beeame a
member of the North German Confedera-
tion. Situated at the mouth of the river
Trave, on a bay of the Baltic Sea, border-
ing to the mnorth and west on Holstein
(Danish until 1863-64, then under Austrian
Administration, Prussian from 1866 on),
to the south on Launenburg (Danish until
1863-64, then under Prussian Administration,
from 1865 on a Prussian provinee), and to
the cast on the two Mecklenburgs, it had an
area of only 115 square miles and a popula-
tion of almost 44,000 in 1859 and about
48,500 in 1867, There were only two towns
in the territory, the harbor ecity of Trave-
miinde and the ecity of Lubeck, the latter
with 31,000 inhabitants in 1859 and 37,000
in 1867.

Lubeck's History is an old one, but not
mueh reliable information is available eon-
cerning the early period. A settlement with
the slavie name of Liubice existed on the
approximate site of Lubeck in the 11th
eentury, but it was destroyed in 1138 by
invaders from the north. It was rebuilt in
1143 by Count Adolf II of Holstein on a
site in the vieinity and in 1157 obtained a
charter as a free Saxon community from
Henry the Lion, This charter was renewed
in 1188 by Emperor Frederick I. In 1226,
Emperor Frederick IT clevated the fast
growing Lubeck to a free Imperial eity.
In the following year, the forces of the city
defeated the Danes in the decisive battle of
Bornkéved. In 1241, Lubeek made its first
treaty with Hamburg to seeure the road
service eonnecting the two eities. This he-
came the nueleus of a close association be-
tween the two ecities., Further ties were
achieved with the maritime towns of the
Baltie Sea whieh eventually led to the for-
mation of a political-commercial assoeiation
between a considerable number of ecities in
northern Germany and the ajoining eount-
rics, the so-called IHanseatic League or
Hansa. The first meeting of the assoeiation,
in which among others Hamburg, Liineburg,
Wismar, Stralsund and Rostock participated,
was held in 1256, Lubeck had the leading
position from the beginning, but was de-
finitely acknowledged as such only in 1418,
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The league was at the height of its power in
the 14th eentury; it comprised about 85 cifies
in 1370. In 1376, Lubeck together with
Hamburg captured Bergedorf, but lost it
again in 1412, to regain it in 1420. Until
1867, when Lubeck sold out to Hamburg,
the territory of Dergedorf remained a joint
possession of Lubeek and Hamburg. The
league dominated the trade in the countries
of northern and eastern Europe and had
strong influenee in the northern parts of
Western Europe, especially in the Nether-
lands and even in England. It fought several
wars against neighboring countries, espeei-
ally the Seandinavian powers, to consol-
idate its position, but actually these wars led
to a deeline of its commeree and therefore
weakened it. The Thirty Years’ War hastened
the dissolution of the league, From 1628 on,
only Lubeek, Hamburg and Bremen remained
to revive the assoeiation; its last triennial
meeting was held in 1669. Lubeck continued
to be a strong foree in the commerce with
northern and eastern Europe, while Hamburg
and Bremen concentrated on the transat-
lantie trade, which naturally had much greater
possibilities, so that they soon surpassed
Lubeek in importance. During the Napoleon-
ic Wars, Lubeek was ocenpied first by the
Danes in 1801 and later by the Freneh, in
1803. It was annexed by France in 1810 and
became part of the Department 128, Bouehes
de L’Elbe. After the defeat of Napoleon,
Lubeck in 1815 beeame a free city of the
German Confederation, Demoeratie reforms
were introdueed in 1848, with an elected
Senate as main governing body. In 1867, it
Joined the North German Confederation and
in 1870 beeame part of the German Empire.

The Postal History of Lubeck in its early
periods is conneeted with the courier serviees
which even preceded the establishment of the
Hanseatie League. They beeame highly de-
veloped only in the 16th ecentury, when
courier routes between the member cities of
the league and the ncighboring ecountries
were in operation. At the same time, the first
foreign mail serviees took hold in the eity,
first the “Reichspost” of the Thurn and
Taxis family, whieh introduced in
Lubeck in 1579 by a decree of Emperor
Rudolph, Tt served espeeially the inter-
national mails. A Danish post office was
opened in 1650 whieh later became one of
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the three Danish main post offieces (“Ober-
postamt’), the other ones being in Copen-
hagen and Hamburg. The ecity started to
ereate its own postal service, the “Stadt-
post”, in 1625, when the first “Botenordnung”
was published. A regular mail coach serviee
instead of the eourier service to Hamburg
was established in 1650. In 1697, Lubeck
coneluded a postal treaty with Denmark
whieh regulated the mail serviee with the
Seandinavian ecountries. There also existed
a Brunswick-Liineburg post office at Lubeck
which in 1740 became a Hanover post office.
The foreign post offices often worked to-
gether with the “Stadtpost”, but sometimes
competition and a conflict of interests re-
sulted. The “Stadtpost” took over foreign
mail serviees for certain periods and con-
dueted them for the aceount of the foreign
country involved, This was the case for the
postal services of Mecklenburg and Prussia
whieh in Lubeck never operated independent-
Iy, but at all times seem to have been condue-
ted by the “Stadtpost™. For a short period,
Sweden also had a postal serviee in Lubeck,
but it was condueted by the Danish postal
service. The Napoleonie Wars led to a
treaty between the “Reichspost” and the
I'rench postal administration, dated Dee.
14, 1801, which for rate purposes divided
both eountries into zones (“rayons”). Lubeek
belonged to the German zone (“rayon”) 4.
During the French occupation the foreign
post offiees were elosed and only the “Stadt-
post” permitted to continue its domestie
service, To replace the foreign post offices,
first a post office of the Grand Duchy of
Berg, a new Freneh satellite eountry, was
opened at Lubeek in 1806, which was in
turn replaced by a French post office in
1808, After the liberation in 1813, the
foreign post offices started to operate again.
The Swedish post office was soon eclosed,
while the Danish, Prussian and Meeklen-
burg mail serviees were operated by the
“Stadtpost”, so that now only Thurn & Taxis
and Hanover retained their own post offices,
The Hanover post office was also elosed on
September 30, 1845. During the rebellion in
Sehleswig-Holstein from 1848-50, the Danish
mail serviee was temporarily suspended and
the mail serviee with Sehleswig-Holstein
handled by the “Stadtpost” for the aceount
of the Schleswig-Holstein mail serviee. On
January 1, 1852, Lubeek beeame a member
of the German-Austrian Postal Union, the
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Thurn & Taxis mail service;acting as inter-
mediary for mail to the member countries in
aceordanee with a speeial treaty with the
“Stadtpost”. In the same year, when the
Lubeek-Biichen railroad was opened, a new
treaty with Denmark was signed which per-
mitted the latter to conduct its own postal
serviee at Lubeck. Danish post offices start-
ed to operate on July 1, 1852 in the town and
at the railroad station. Two letter eollecting
agencies which operated in the vieinity of
Lubeck, at Gross-Griinau (Lauenburg) and
at Reinfeld (Holstein), were subordinated
to the Danish main post office at Lubeck.
The “Stadtpost” in 1854 also opened a post
offiee at the railroad station and the Thurn &
Taxis mail service did so in 1856. In 1858 an
agreement between the “Stadtpost”, which
had also opened a post office at Travemiinde,
and the foreign post offices eliminated any
competition, which may still have existed,
by dividing the mail serviee to the various
countrics between the three operating mail
services. The “Stadtpost”, aside from all
domestie mail and the mail to Hamburg and
Bremen, handled the mail to those parts of
Germany which were not served by the Thurn
& Taxis postal service, then to Austria
(except Upper Austria, Tyrol and Vorarl-
bherg as well as Lombardy-Venetia), the
Seandinavian  countries, Finland, Russia,
Great Dritain, Turkey, Greece, the Touian
Tslands and to Afriean and Asiatic countries
vin Triest, as well as to all transatlantic
countries, The Thurn and Taxis mail service
handled mail to all countries of its own
domain (exeept Hamburg and Bremen), fo
Baden, Bavaria and Wurttemberg, to parts
of Austrin (Upper Austria, Tyrol and
Vorarlberg as well as Lombardy-Venetia),
to Belgium, the Netherlands, Luxembourg,
Franee, Spain, Portugal, Switzerland and
Ttaly, as well as to all countries outside
Europe (exeept transatlantie ones) in transit
throngh above countries. The Danish
post office accepted mail to Denmark (in-
cluding Sehleswig-Holstein and Lauenburg)
and to Seandinavia in transit through
Denmark, The “Stadptost” was eonducted by
a “Postdepartment” which was supervised by
the Senate. In addition to the courier and
mail coaeh services, mail was ecarried by
railroad to Biichen, later also to Hamburg
and Lauenburg, as well as by steamship to
Seandinavia and Russia. During the war of
1863-64, the Danish mail service again was
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temporarily sospended and the service to
Sehleswig-Holstein  and Lauenburg taken
over by the “Stadtpost™ on April 1, 1864
Already from Mareh 1, 1864 on, the “Stadt-
post” had taken over the supervision of the
letter ecollecting agencies at Gross-Griinan
(Lauenburg) and at Reinfeld (Holstein),
which until then had been under the Danish
main post office at Lubeck, On January 1,
1865, a newly opened letter colleeting ageney
at Stoekelsdorf (Holstein) also eame under
the supervision of the “Stadtpost”. The three
letter collecting agencies became independ-
ent post offices on December 31, 1865, July
31, 1865 and Oetober 15, 1867, respeetively,
and the supervision by the “Stadtpost”
ceased at that time. The Thurn and Taxis
postal serviee was discontinued on June 30,
1867 and its mail connections taken over by
.the “Stadtpost”. The same year brought the
closing of the “Stadtpost”, on December 31,
1867 ; it was replaced on January 1, 1868 by
the mail service of the North German
Confederation. The Danish mail serviee last-
ed a few months longer, it was eclosed on
April 30, 1868,

In 1860, a rural mail service was intro-
dueed and letter eolleeting agenecies opened
in five villages, namely Moisling, Niendorf,
Cronsforde, Crummesse and Wulfsdorf.

The mail serviee of the “Stadtpost” was
rather extensive, as an average of 300,000
letters per year were mailed theve, The
stutisties for 1859 show that there were
over 100,000 letters to Hamburg, over 66,000
letters to the two Mecklenburgs and over
131,500 letters to the other countries of the
German-Austrian Postal Union. To other
foreign eountries went a little over 12,000
letters, while only about 7800 letters were
mailed to Travemiinde.

Lubeek had its own Currency, but actually
it was identieal with that of Hamburg, name-
Iy 1 Mark(m) divided into 16 Sehilling(s)
Lubeck Courant. The foreign post offices
used their own eurrencies—For weight and
distances, the IHamburg units were used.

Postage stamps were first introdueed in
Lubeck by the foreign post offices. The
carliest ease was by the Sehleswig-Holstein
Mail Serviee, condueted by the “Stadtpost™,
which started to use postage stamps of
Schleswig-Holstein on Nevember 15, 1850
or shortly thereafter. Their use was dis-
continued in March 1851, The Lhurn &
Taxis Mail Scrvice introduced postage
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stamps on January 1, 1852 and the Danish
Mail Service on Adugust 1, 1855. The last one
was the “Stadtpost”, which introduced its
first postage stamps on January 1, 1859. All
three mail services also introduced Postal
Envelopes in Lubeck, namely Thurn and
Taxis on October 1, 1861, the “Stadipost”™
on July 1, 1863, and Denmark on January 1,
1865, No other kinds of postal stamps or
stationery were uged in Lubeck. There were
speeinl forms for money orders, issued by the
“Stadtpost” on Mareh 1, 1866, but they had
no imprinted stamps.

The Postal Rales of the “Stadtpost” during
the stamp period were generally those of the
Carman-Austrian Postal Union, namely for
letters per loth 2s up to 10 miles, 3s from
10 to 20 miles and 4s over 20 miles. There
were lower rates to places which were near
the border, in the two Mecklenburgs and in
Prussia, namely up to 3 miles, 1s, up to 6
miles, 134s, as well as  a reduced rate of
2148 to some places in Hanover and Meeklen-
burg-Sehwerin, City letters cost I4s without
regard to the weight, letters between Lubeck
and Travemiinde 1s. Printed matter uni-
formly paid 14s per loth. Registration Fee
was 28 between Lubeek and Travemiinde as
well as to Mecklenburg-Schwerin and 3s to
all other post offices of the German-Austrian
Postal Union. For the roral mail service,
additional fees were colleeted, 1s for letters
up to 1 loth and 2s for heavier ones, 2s
additional registration fee, ete. In the eity,
a Vs delivery fee for each piece of mail was
colleeted from the addressee by the mail
carrier. It was abolished for printed matter
on June 30, 1862 and for all mail on
December 31, 1865. When the “Stadtpost”
took over the mail service to Sechleswig-
Hoistein and Lauenburg on April 1, 1864,
the letwer fee to the post offices there was
reduced to 114s, which was equivalent to
the former 4 Danish Skilling rate, From
Oetober 1, 1865 on, the letter rate to Ham-
burg, Dergedorf and Geesthacht was reduced
to 1148, and from January 1, 1866 on, the
same fee was charged for letters to Lauen-
burg, which had become Prussian in the
meantime. The fees for money orders, which
were introduced on Mareh 1, 1866, were 1s
and 3s up to 25 thaler and 50 thaler re-
speetively between Lubeck and Travemiinde,
3s and 4s respectively to Hamburg and
Sehleswig-Holstein—To foreign countries
higher rates, ranging from 534s to 41s for

103



letters and 1s to 7s for printed matter were
charged. There were considerably reduced
rates for mail to overseas countries which
wus sent by sailing ships instead of steam-
ships.

Of the foreign post offices, Thurn and
Taxis charged the rates of the German-
Austrian Postal Union, namely lsg, 2sg and
dsg for each loth of letter mail, depending
on the distance, and 14sg for each loth of
printed matter. The Danish mail service
considered Lubeck postally a part of Den-
mark and therefore eharged domestie rates,
first drs(4s) per loth, from October 1, 1865
ou 4s per 15 grams, 8s over 15 to 125 grams
and 16s over 125 to 250 grams.

The denominations of the postage stamps
of Lubeck, when first issued on January 1,
1859, covered the prineipal rates, l4s was
for city letters aund printed matter, Is for
domestie letters and to places within 3
miles, Zs for letters to Hamburg and Berge-
dorf, £14s to some places in Hanover and
Mecklenburg-Sehwerin and 45 to the other
countries of the German-Austrian Postal
Union. The necessary other rates (134s and
3s) could be easily formed by combining two
of the existing ones, and the same was the
ease with most rates to foreign countries,
When the new letter rate of 114s to Selhles-
wig-Tolstein and Lauenburg was introdueed
on April 1, 1864, a 174« stamp was issued
the same day. The reduection to 1148 of the
letter fee to Hamburg, Bergedorf and Geest-
haecht on December 1, 1865 ecaused the
issunnee of a IY4s stamp the same day. The
postal envelopes were issued on July 1, 1863
in the same denominations as the adhesives,
therefore L4s, 18, 25, 2148 and ds. A 1l4s
envelope was added on Deeember 1, 1865,
when the adhesive of the same denomination
was issued.

Of the foreign postal services, Schleswig-
Holstein issued both denomination of its
1850 stamps, 1s and Zs, at Lubeck. The
Thurn & Taris mail service used all denom-
inations of its adhesives in silbergroschen
currency, namely Y4sg, 1439, Visg, 1sg, 2sg,
dsg, dsg and 10sg. Of Postal envelopes, only
the 3sg scems to have been issued at Lubeck,
but otbers also exist used there, and possibly
all denominations—igsg, Visg, 1sg, 2sg and
Jsg—were aetually in use there. The Danish
mail serviee first introduced only 4s stamps,
later also &8s and 16s stamps, but Zs stamps
are known used at Lubeck from the begin-
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ning, and from 1864 on the Js denomination
was also in use there. Both demominations
of the postal envelopes, 25 and 4s, also exist
used there.

Ouly for mail to the eountries of the
German-Austrian  Postal Union was pre-
payment of postage obligatory, and for un-
paid letters a surtax of 1l4s was colleeted
from the addressee. For domestie letters as
well as those to Hamburg, Bergedorf and
Meeklenburg-Sehwerin, payment of postage
was not obligatory, and no surtax was col-
leeted from the addressee for unpaid letters,
The same was the case for letters to most
foreign countries, bhut to some of them only
prepaid letters were aceepted. From August
1, 1865 oun, mail to Schleswig-Holstein and
Launenburg had to be prepaid, otherwise a
surtax of 3/4s was collected, At the foreign
post offices, the same regulations as in the
motherland existed.

The use of postage stamps was not obliga-
tory, and payment in eash was permitted at
the same rates. Espeeially in the early years,
postage on a large percentage of all mail was
patid in eash, and only on a small percentage
were postage stamps used. Later, the use of
postage stamps became more popular, but
never uvbligatory. Statisties from the year
1864 reveal that only on about 129 of all
letters was postage paid in stamps, while all
others were sent unpaid. The registration
fee could be paid either in eash or in stamps.
The fees of money letters and parcels had
to be paid in eash, and use of stamps on
them was not permitted. When postal money
orders were introdueed on Mareh 1, 1866, the
postal fees for them had to be paid in
stamps., At the foreign post offices, use of
stamps was obligatory for letters and print-
ed matter, but not for money letters and
parcels. The money orders which were in-
troduced in 1865 by the Thurn and Taxis
mail service were also to be franked with
stamyps.

The stamps of the 1859 issue were with-
drawn and demonctized on July 31, 1863.
The later issues, including the envelopes,
were withdrawn and demonetized on Dee.
31, 1867. The stamps of the foreign post
offices were demonetized at the same time
as at their domestie post offices; they lost
their validity in Lubeck when the specific
foreign post offices were elosed.

The designs of all stamps of Lubeck have
the arms of the free city, a double-headed
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eagle, as their eentral motif, only the frames
vary. The rectangular design of the 1859
issuc was the work of a loeal artist, the
painter Stoeltzner. Tt shows the arms within
a ribhon which has the inseription POST-
MARKE at bottom and the value indieation
on the sides. LUBECK is at top, the figure
of value in all four corners. The following
issue, of 1863, heeame necessary, it is elaim-
ed, beeause forgeries of the 1859 issue were
reported from London, but it seems that the
change of eolor which was necessitated by
the new color regulations of fhe German-
Austrian Postal Union and the introduction
of envelopes provided an opportunity to
replaee the rather erude first issue by a more
clegant design which at the same time was
alsn suitable for use on the envelopes. It
shows the arms in the eenter of a double oval,

inseribed LUBECK at top and SCHILLING

at bottom; the figures of value are in small
cireles on hoth sides, This design was very
mimilar to the 1861 issue of Prussia which
had been copied by Oldenburg before and
was adopted by several other German States
in the following years. The design of the
additional 1148 denomination of 1864 was a
rather erude imitation of the design of the
1863 issue, adjusted to the different printing
method, with different ornamentations and
background., For the 114s value, issued in
1865, an oetagonal design that otherwise
closely resembles the oval one of 1863 was
chosen. It was used only for the envelopes,
while for the adhesives, the design was made
reetangular by adding a triangular back-
ground of liftle ornaments in all four eor-
ners.

Two different methods of manufacture
were used for the stamps. The first issue was
printed in lithography by the printing works
of G. H. Raltgens at Lubeek. The 1863 issue
—adhesives and envelopes—was printed in
typography combined with embossing by the
Prussian State Printing Works in Berlin, Of
the additional values, the 114s was litho-
graphed by G. H. Rahtgens at Lubeek, while
the 1148 was printed in the same way as the
1863 issue by the Prussian State Printing
Works in Berlin, in typography combined
with embossing.

The dies for the lithographed stamps of
the 1859 issue were cut in metal by an un-
lenown engraver, For eaeh denomination, the
complete design was cut separately. There-
fore, there are small differences in the
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design hetween the five denominations of the
1859 issue. In addition to these aecidental
charaeteristics of each die, so-called “secret
marks"” were inserted in eaeh die whieh con-
sisted of dots ahove and/or helow the short
line in the ecenter of the frame at bottom. A
speeial system was designed whieh accorded
to each Schilling one dot below the line and
to each half Sehilling one dot above the line.
Theretore, the V4s had one dot above the
line, the 1s one dot below the line, the 2s
two dots below the line, the 214s one dot
above awd two below the line, and the 4s
four dots below the line. For the emhbossed-
typographed stamps of the 1863 issue, dies
were eut by the engraver I1. G, Sehilling of
the Prussian State Printing Works for the
center and the oval frame which were then
combined, This combined die was eomplete
exeept for the figures of value engraved in
them, It was necessary to make different
secondary dies for adhesives and envelopes
beeause on the adhesives, only for the eenter
of the design was embossing employed, while
on the envelope stamps the whole design, in-
cluding the frame lines, was embossed. This
is true for the 1863 issue as well as for the
112s of 1865. The separate manufacture of
the dies of the envelope stamps is also proven
by the fact that the figures of value on the
envelope stamps differ more or less from
those on the adhesives. The die of the 114s
of 1864 was eut in metal by an unknown
engraver, complete including inseriptions and
value indieation. It had a rectangular frame
consisting of a thin line. For the 114s of
1865, the engraver used for the ecenter a
matrix taken from the original die pre-
viously used for the 1863 issue, and added
the oetagonal frame, ineluding the guilloche,
which is wider than on the 1863 issue, but
left the cireles for the figure of value blank.
This matrix was nsed ounly for the envelope
dies, after inserting the figure of value on
both sides. For the adhesives, a rectangular
die was made by adding a triangular baek-
round of little ornaments in the four corners
and inserfing the figures of value on both
sides in a matrix of the oetagonal design
which had no figures of value.

To obtain the printing material of the 1859
issue, from the die of each denomination 100
prints on lithographic transfer paper were
taken, assembled to a sheet of 100 (10x10)
and transferred to a stone, The designs are
spaced 114 to 2mm, On the first printing of
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the 4s, the printer inserted on the stome at
all four sides a rather conspicuous margin
print “Druckerei von I G. Rahtgens in
Liibeck”, but, obviously due to objeetions by
the postal administration, these inseriptions
were removed for later printings and mot
applied on the stone of any other denomina-
tion, thercfore the sheets of later prints of
the 4s and of all prints of the other denom-
inations had mo margin print of any kind.
The printed sheets of the 4s with the inserip-
tions were not issued and later sold with the
remainders. For the 1863 issue and the 1}4s
of 1865, 50 matrices were made from the dic
of cach denomination and assembled to a
master plate of 5 rows of 10 designs. Plates
for the printing as well as for the embossing
—the latter in a soft material, probably
cardboard—were made from this master
plate, the former by electrotyping, and two
each of these plates combined to a printing
plate of 100 (10x10). Marginal numbers
from 1 to 10 were added on all four sides to
complete the printing plate. The stone for
the 114s of 1864 was laid down in the same
way as those of the 1859 issue; the ree-
tangular frame lines of the design show,
although often incompletely, between the
designs and form a kind of dividing line.
For the envelopes, single dies were obtained
from the envelope dies of eaeh value by
electrotyping and together with counter dies
used for the printing of the stamps on the
envelopes. The overprint of the envelopes
was applied with a circular die which con-
tained the inseription eight fimes.

When the stone of the 2s of the 1859 issue
was laid down, two prints from the stone of
the 2145 slipped in by mistake and appeared
in the last row of the stone, in positions 96
and 97. The error was detected before the
printing started. Instead of replacing the
wrong designs by correct ones, the printers
preferred to correet the two designs by re-
placing the “214” in the four eorners by
“2"g This was done in a very efficient way,
and no sign of this operation ean be found,
except that the figures “2" differ slightly
from those on the regular 2s stamp. There
are also small differences between the two
corrected designs in regard to the figures,
so that actually two types of the error
exist. The printers either overlooked or
thought it unimportant that another change
would have been necessary to transform the
two designs eorrectly into those of 2s stamps,
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namely that of the inseription in the ribbon
at left, which remained “ZWEI EIN HALB”
instead of “ZWEI”. The “secret mark” also
was left unchanged as on the 214s. In this
way, the two corrected designs are easily
distingnishable and real plate errors of
major interest.

The stones of the lithographed stamps
were obliterated after the printing of the
necessary quantity was eompleted. Only one
stone was made for the 2s, 214s and 4s, while
second stones were made for the 14s and 1s
when new printings beeame neeessary in
1862. Of the 114s, a second stone seems to
liave been made also, for a second printing in
November 1864, Of the embossed-typograph-
ed stamps, the same plates were used for
various printings.

The printing of the stamps was rather
eareful, and no major printing varieties of
the adhesives are known, As embossing and
printing of the 1863 issue and of the 114s of
1865 was done in the same operation, no
specifie varicties of the embossing were
possible. Of the envelopes, on which the
stamps were printed singly, eopies are known
with a second design in colorless embossing.
Such varicties oceur when two envelopes in-
stead of one were inserted in the printing
press, the top one reeeiving regular print, the
hottom one the embossing only. When later
a regular stamp was printed on the latter,
the above variety resulted. Some aunthors
elaim that these varieties were elandestinely
made in later years by the faker Fouré,
whiel in our opinion does not seem very
likely, inasmuch as similar varieties exist of
envelopes of several other countries of which
TFouré did not make any elandestine print-
ings.

The paper of the first issue was machine-
made and had a watermark of small flowers
(five-petaled forget-me-nots). It was suppli-
ed by a loeal bookseller by the name of Matz.
It seems to be of French origin and original-
Iy a paper for fine letterheads. The water-
mark was considered unimportant and was
not even mentioned in the decree of issue. It
is difficult to see, so that in faet the stamps
were considered unwatermarked by the early
philatelists; only in 1866 did Moens find
that they have a watermark. For the second
printing of ¥4s and 1s in 1862, the printers
were unable to obtain the same kind of paper
whieh had been sold out by the bookseller
in the meantime, and they took instead a
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machine-made paper withont watermark,
showing a distinet mesh. The unwatermarked
stamps were delivered on April 3, 1862 and
came into use shortly afterwards, when the
supplies of watermarked 14s and ls were
exhausted. It is often rather difficult to dis-
tinguish them from the watermarked 14s and
1s, although the shades provide some help.
The best way to distinguish them, especially
when they are on piece or entire, is by the
printing, which is more distinet and finer on
the unwatermarked stamps, espeecially in the
arms, which are often slightly blurred on the
watermarked stamps, The paper of the 114s
of 1864 was similar to that of the unwater-
marked stamps of the 1859 issuc but slightly
thicker. It also showed a more or less dis-
tinet mesh. For the stamps printed by the
Prussian State Printing Works in Berlin—
1863 issue and 1i4s of 1865, adhesives as
well as envelopes—a regular wove machine-
made paper was used, which in the ease of
the envelopes often has a grayish or bluish
tint.

Before the paper of the 1859 issue—with
and  without watermark—was delivered to
the printer, it received a control handstamp
in black, a small double cirele with double
outer line, which had the inseription STADT-
POST-AMT/LUBECK and the arms of the
eity and a posthorn in the center. It was
regularly printed in the center of the bottom
sheet margin, but can also be found in the
sume position on the upper sheet margin, in
the latter ease almost always inverted.

The eolor scheme for the first stamps of
Lubeck was an independent one, The 14s was
lilae, 18 orange, 28 brown, 2148 rose and 4s
green. When the 1863 issue was issued, the
color seale of the German-Austrian Postal
Union was adopted. Only the 1s remained
orange, but the 14s is now green, 2s rose,
2148 blue and 4s light brown. The additional
denominations of 1864 and 1865 were brown
(1148) and vielet (114s).

In regard to the inks used for the printing,
not much variety ean be found. Only one or
two printings were made of most of the
stamps, and only minor shades ean be found;
some of them are characteristic for used
stamps, others were mainly found in the
remainders. This is espeeially true for the
4s of 1859, of which a yellow green shade
exists, believed to come from the sheets
with the marginal print whieh were not
issued and found only in the remainders.
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Caneelled copies are known, but they are all
doubtful, as this yellow green shade is un-
known on eover. Little variation ean be
found in the colors of the 1863 issue, but the
114s of 1864 exists in three distinet shades,
light brown, reddish brown and dark brown.
Of the envelopes, the 214s of 1863 exists in
two distinet shades, ultramarine and, eon-
siderably searcer, violet blue. Of the 134s of
1865 two colors, violet and red violet, ean
be distinguished. The lilac eolors of the I4s
of 18359 and 114s of 1865 are rather sensitive
to light and even to mild ehemieal influence,
which indieates that the shades of these
stamps—at least partly—are not original
shades but oeeurred through aging.

The orange colors of the 1s of 1859 and
1863 are easily subjected to reduction which
makes them appear brownish or brown to
black, and some stamps in other eolors also
sometimes appear darker due to reduetion
or due to aceidental or purposely applied
influenee of chemicals,

The 1859 issue as well as the 134s of
18G4 were issued imperforate. Tt is elaimed
that the latter stamp also exists with
private roulette, but we have never seen a
copy of it, and it seems doubtful that such
a roulette was applied during its aetual
period of use. The 1863 issue and the 114s of
1865 were issucd rouletted. The roulette,
consisting of short lines, of which 1114 can
he counted on a space of Zem, was applied
with an appropriate setting of sharpened
lines in one operation for each sheet; the
roulette does run through the sheet mar-
gins, In 1867, when a second printing of the
1s only beeame necessary, the Prussian State
Printing Works were using another kind of
rouletting whieh had 10 roulettes on 2em. It
was used for the new printing of the 1s, which
therefore eomes in two kinds of roulettes,
1114 and 10, while the other denominations
exist only in roulette 1114. Generally, center-
ing is not very good, but no major rouletting
varieties have been recorded.

The stamps of the 1859 issue, watermarked
and unwatermarked, were delivered by the
printer without gum. The sheets were gum-
med in small quantities, depending on de-
mand, at the “Stadtpost” offiee. Therefore,
the gum differs considerably, and it is
almost impossible to aseertain whether it is
contemporary and was applied offieially or
put on privately in later years. The remaind-
ers were without gum, The 114s of 1864 was
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delivered by the printer with gum, which was
vellowish to brownish, The 1863 issue and the
114s of 1865 were gummed before the roun-
letting was applied. The gum was colorless
and smooth.

The envelopes first had the stamps in the
top left corner and were manufaetured in two
sizes, a small one (147x85mm.) and a large
one (150x116mm.). All five denominations
exist in both sizes. In aecordanee with the
regulations of the German-Austrian Postal
Tnion, new printings delivered in February
1864 had the stamp in the top right corner.
They were issued after the previous printing
was used up; the earliest ones are known
used in April 1864, These and all following
envelopes were issued only in the small size.
All envelopes had a small eolorless embossing
on the upper flap, showing a guilloched
cirele with a star in the eenter, identical with
the embossing used on the eontemporary
envelopes of Prussia. All envelopes had a
two-line overprint in the same eorner where
the stamp was applied, extending to the flaps
on back. It read for example ZWEI
SCHILLING POST-COUVERT. Late in
1865, the spelling was changed to SCHILL-
INGE, and the 4s envelopes delivered in
December of that year were the first ones
with the changed overprint. They were put
into use after the old envelopes were used
up, probably only in 1867. For the 2s
envelope was a gimilar change made; it was
delivered in May 1867, but in all probability
was never issued and found only in the
remainders.

The forms for the money orders exist in
several types, with differences in the text,
on thin ecard of various shades. All had a
space for the adhesives at top right and the
lieading “Deutseher Postverein/Liibeckischer
Posthezirk”, with the arms of Lubeck in the
center at top.

All stamps were issued in sheets of 100 as
printed ; they were available to the publie in
any requested quantity.

The remainders of all Lubeek stamps and
envelopes were sold in 1869 to the dealer
Charles Pelletreau of Paris for 600 thaler.
They ineluded all values of the 1859 issne—
the 148 and 1s only on unwatermarked paper
—all values of the 1859 issue as well as the
1¥4s of 1864 and the 14s of 1865. For the
adhesives the quantities ranged from 7228
copies (1s of 1863) to 107,500 copies (4s of
1859) ; there were 1950 copies of the ZWEI
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BIN HALB error. Of the envelopes, 5423
copies (4s) to 14,118 ecopies (1las) were
among the remainders, mostly of the last
printings. Therefore, all Lubeck stamps are
readily available wnused, exeept the water-
marked ¥4s and 1s of 1859. Of the envelopes,
the 14s and 4s of the 1863 issue in both sizes
are rare, and the 2s and 4s of the 1864 issue
are searce, but all others are rather plentiful
in unused condition. In unused multiples, not
even pairs scem to be known of the water-
marked 14s and 1s, and any multiples of
these two denominations which may exist are
rarities, All other Lubeck stamps are rather
casy to obtain in multiples and even blocks
exeept the 1s of 1863, rouletted 1114,
whieh is  elusive in  multiples. The
ZWEI EIN HALBE error is frequently found
in hottom margin pairs with a regular
stamp; pairs of both errors together are
seareer,

In wsed eondition all Lubeck stamps and
envelopes are considerably seareer than un-
used. The rarest ones are the 14s and 1s of
the 1859 issue, watermarked and unwater-
marked. Almost equally rare is the 1s of
1863, rouletted 10, whieh was in use for only
a few months. The used 2s, 214s and 4s of
1859 as well as the 1s (roul. 1114) and 2148
of 1863 also belong to the searee stamps,
while the 14s, 2s and 4s of 1863, the 114s of
1864 and the 114s of 1865 are the easiest to
obtain used. Of the envelopes, all entires ave
rare to very rarve. The easiest fo obtain used
is the 1148 envelope of 1865; much scarcer
are the 1s, 2s, 214 and 4s of the 1863 and
1864 issues in small size. Rare are used 4s
entires in small size of the 1863 and 1864
issues. Distinet rarities are all used envelopes
in large size, of which the 14s is a great
rarity, only a few entires of it seem to have
survived. Used multiples are rarities, espe-
cially of the 1859-62 issue. Only of the un-
watermarked 4s is a bloek of four known,
while of the others only strips of four (2s)
or three (14s, 1s watermarked and 4s) or
even only pairs (1s unwatermarked and
2i4s) are reeorded. A reported eopy of the
ZWEI EIN HALB error in pair with a regu-
lar 25 seems doubtful. No used blocks seem to
be known of the 1863-65 stamps, but strips of
three or larger ones seem fo exist of all
denominations; they are searce to rare.

On entires, all Lubeck stamps are rare and
deserve a considerable premium, This pre-
mium is inereased by the faet that it is often
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Fig. 123

very difficult to aseertain whether the regu-
lar bhar eancellation on a stamp off cover is
genuine or not. That is one of the reasons
which induees eollectors to prefer these
stamps on entires, and this stimulates higher
premiums. Those denominations which are
generally rarer used than others are also
rarer on entires. Of the 1859 issue, the ¥4s
and 1s, watermarked and unwatermarked,
are the rarest, but the 214s is almost as rare.
Of the ZWET EIN HALB error, only a
few copies are known postmarked on cover
(Fig. 123) ; they belong to the great rar-
ities of the Old German States covers. Of the
186G3-65 stamps, the rarest is the 1s, rouletted
10, on entire, followed at some distance by
the 214s and the 1s, rouletted 1114, The other
denominations are searce, but more easily
available. The 1863-65 stamps ean also be
found used on money orders, and sueh entires
are considerably searcer although less popu-
lar than letter mail. Generally, eolorful
frankings of more than two denominations
are infrequent among Lubeek entires, and
we have never seen more than three different
ones on one entire, Combination frankings
bhetween the issue 1859-62 and the 1863-65
stamps are great rarities, as they were
possible only for one month, Fven mixed
frankings between the original denomina-
tions of the 1863 issuc and the additional
values of 1864-65 (1i4s and 114s) are rare.
Of mixed frankings with the stamps of
other countries, the 114s is known in comb-
ination with a Sehleswig-Holstein 114s green,
but it seems to be an aceidental franking
whieh slipped through.
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Fig. 124

Of emergeney frankings, only envelope
cut squares used as adhesives are known. In
most cases, these were actually not due to
the lack of proper adhesives, but were to
use up the stamps of spoiled or unneeded
envelopes. Sueh use was not covered by the
postal regulations, but it was never for-
bidden either, so that such frankings were
tolerated during the whole period of use of
envelopes. Known are eut squares of the 14s,
1s, 2s, 2148 and 4s of the 1863 issue, 14s,
2145 and 4s of the 1864 issue, and 4s of the
1867 issue (Fig. 124). They are all scaree to
rare on pieces and rare to very rare on
entires.

Of the foreign postal serviees, the Sehles-
wig-Holstein stamps of 1850, 1s and 2s, are
both known used at Lubeck, but they are
very rare, especially on eover, as obviously
only a limited number was used there. Of
Thurn and Tazxis, all denominations were
used at Lubeek, but it seems doubtful that
all denominations of all issues of adhesives
and envelopes exist used at Lubeck, It seems
safe to assume that only a few of the envel-
opes and certainly not all denominations
of the 1866 issue (with colored roulette)
exist used at Lubeek. In eontrast to that, all
confemporary stamps and envelopes of Den-
mark, even the 2rs stamp of 1851, exist
used at Lubeck, although of some denom-
inntions and issues only a few copies or even
only one copy are known, As in general the
mail serviee of the foreign post offices at
Lubeck was on a much smaller seale than in
Hamburg and Bremen, it is much more diff-
ienlt to assemble a eollection of all their
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stamps, especially when one wants to have
them on entires,

Of all Lubeck stamps except the 114s of
1864 offieial Reprints were made in 1872,
The history of these reprints is rather wn-
usual, A soldier from Saxony by the name
of Paunl Kirehner, who had become an invalid
in the war of 1870-71 and was laid up in a
Lubeck hospital, asked the Senate for per-
mission to have sueh reprints made for him,
so that he could make money by their sale
and in this way seeure hig future. The
Senate, in an unusual show of charity, gave
its permission, and the printers, 1L G,
Raltgens, who had manufactured the 1859-62
issue, were instrueted to reprint 250 copies
of each denomination for this purpose. The
original dies of the 1859 issue as well as
printing plates of 50 of the 1863-65 issue
were supplied by the archives of the Senate,
where they had been preserved, The printers
laid down new stomes of 25 (5x5) of the
five denominations of the 1859 issue and
printed ten sheets of each, Of each of the
five denominations of the 1863 issue and
of the 114s of 1865, five sheets of 50 (10x5)
were printed, but without margin numerals
and  without the use of eounterplates, so
that the embossing of the center is rather
flat. The dic of the 114s of 1864 was cither
unavailable or not provided, therefore no
reprints of this denomination exist; no re-
prints were made of the envelopes either.
All reprints were printed on wove paper—
the 1s of 1863 partly on a rather thick
kind—and gummed; all were left imperf-
orate. The eolors of the originals are rather
well imitated. It is obvious from the quan-
tities printed that the reprints arve consider-
ably searcer than the originals. In recent
years, small quantities and even a set of orig-
inal sheets have come on the market from un-
disclosed sourees, but they were taken up
quickly by collectors eager to have them,
The reprints of the 1859 issue are less
trequently found than those of the 1863 is-
sue. They are so similar to the originals that
probably a considerable number of them are
in colleetions, elassified as originals.

Lubeck has been one of the favorite fields
of forgers and fakers. A large number of
Forgeries of all Lubeck stamps and even of
the envelopes exist, some of them having
been imitated by more than a dozen forgers.
This is somewhat surprising as unused orig-
inals were not very popular and readily
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available not long ago. Most of these forger-
ies are erude, and we know of no dangerous
imitations of whole Lubeck stamps, except
of the ZWEI EIN HALB crror, of which
a rather good Sperati produect exists. How-

ever, f'akes of Lubeck stamps are very
numerous, but they are almost all faked
eaneellations, except for the 1s of 1863, of
which the rare roulette 10 was faked on used
copies of the regular 1s by applying a faked
roulette. The relatively simple task of imitat-
ing the five-bar canceller, in this way
multiplying the value of a stamp, has in-
trigued numerous fakers and has produced
some exeellent fakes whieh have made the
work of the expert in the field very difficult.
If he is conseientious, he will often have fo
deeline to give an opinion when the parts of
the canceller on the stamp are not sufficient
to allow a well founded opinion. But all the
other types of eancellation also have been
faked, The fakers have not hesitated to fake
whole entires, either by applying stamps to
stampless covers or by faking all postmarks
and caneellations, Even the pen cancellation
has been imitated, although praetically no
inerease in the market value resulted from
such an operation, except when sueh stamps
were applied to covers.

The history of the Postmarks of Tubeek
can be divided into three parts, namely those
of the 18th century, those during the Napol-
conic period and the French occupation, and
those after the liberation, from 1814 on.

Only of the “Reichspost”, the Thurn and
Taxis mail organization, are 18th ecentury
postmarks known., They were straight line
LUBECK in Roman eapitals, without date,
which exist in two types, They have the
first letter enlarged and are known as early
as 1784,

In 1802, as the first effeet of the Napol-
conie Wars, in accordance with the 1801
treaty between the “Reichispost” and Franece,
the former introduced in Lubeck postmarks
which had “R.4” added to the town name.
A straight line postmark R.4 LUBEK in
Italies, which exists in several types, was
used until the elosing of the “Reichspost™
offiee by the French in 1806. The post office
of a Freneh satellite eountry, the Grand
Duchy of Berg, which replaced it, first
continued to use the last “Reichspost” post-
mark after changing the last letter, creating
a postmark with the French spelling R.4.
LUBEC. But a few months later a new
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postmark LUBEC R.4 with the indieation
B.G.D. (Bureau General Dueal) and date
with year in a second line was introduced.
A similar postmark, inseribed LUBEC
B.G.D./DE MESSA, and date with year
was used for moncy letters and pareels;
“MESSA.” is the abbreviation of ‘“Messa-
gerie”. When the post office of the Grand
Duechy of Berg was replaced in 1808 by a
Freneh post offiee, the latter used similar
postmarks, all with the “R.4" indieation, one
of them with additional “B.J. de F.”
(Bureau Imperial de France) and date with
yoear in the seeond line. When Lubeek be-
came part of the French Department 128,
new  postmarks were introduced in 1811,
whieh had “128" above “LUBECK” and
“B.DE L’ELBE below, but no date. Similar
postmarks with added “P.P." for paid
letters, and “DEB.” (Déboursé) for forward-
ed and rerated letters, were also in use.
Already in the last years of the French
occupation, the “Stadipost”™, which was the
only postal organization permitted to operate
simultancously with the Freneh one, started
to use postmarks in 1810. The first post-
mark was a dateless straight line ST. P. LUB.
It was followed from 1813 on by various
straight lines with date and year in a second
line, one of them, of 1817, in Old English
type. On several of these postmarks, the
town name was preceded by “St.P.", or
“S.P2 or “PLAY. The last one, without
such indication, remained in use until 1844,
when it was replaced by a double cirele
LUEBECK with date (day and month in
figures) in the center and the year date at
bottom. In 1852, the year date was replaced
by an hour indication. In 1855, a similar
postmark, but with F.P.A. (Fahr-Post-
Amt) at bottom was introduced for money
letters and parcels only. In 1858, another
double eirele postmark with a small ornament
replacing the hour indiecation, eame into use.

After the French had left Lubeck, the
“Reichspost™ office was the first of the
foreign postal organizations to reopen, on
January 8, 1814. At first, a dateless R4
LUBEK in Italies was again used. Soon
afterwards, a straight line R4 LUBECK
with date and year was introduced, of
which several types exist. These postmarks
were replaced in 1818 by a semi-circular
type, similar to those used at Bremen and
Hamburg, inseribed LUBECK/F.TH.u.TAX,
P.A. and date, with or without year date,
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This type remained in use for the remainder
of the pre-stamp period.

The post office of Hanover used postmarks
from 1814 on, first a dateless straight line
“Liibeck” in seript letters. It was followed
in the early twenties by a dateless straight
line LUBECK in Roman eapitals and a few
vears later by a postmark with a wavy-line
frame, LUBECK, date (day and month in
letters) in a second line. These two post-
marks remained in use until the elosing of
the Hanover post offiee in 1845,

There is a postmark of the Swedish post
offiee reported, supposedly used for a short
period in 1815, It is a  straight line
LYBECK with three crowns before the namao
and date (day, month and year) in a second
line.

The Danish post office was, during a large
part of the pre-stamp period, managed by
the “Stadtpost”, and only few postmarks are
known. One, in use from the twenties, is a
straight line, K.D.P.A. LUBECK in Roman
capitals, with the date (day, month and
vear) in a second line. In 1852, when the
Danish post office again started to operate
separately, a single eirele K.D,0.P.A.
LUBECK in Roman capitals with date (day
and month in figures) and year in the
center was introduced.

The post offices at the railroad station
used double eirele postmarks, the “Stadtpost”
one inseribed LUEBECK BAHNHOF, date
in figures in the eenter and the train number
at bottom, from 1854 on. The double eirele
of the Danish post office had the inseription
BAHINH. LUEBECK /K. DAEN. POST with
the date and train number in the eenter; it
was in use from 1852 on. No pre-stamp post-
mark of the Thurn and Taxis railroad sta-
tion post office is known, as this post office
was opened after the end of the pre-stamp
period.

The “Stadtpost” office at Travemiinde
used a small double cirele TRAVEMUNDE
with date (day and month in figures) and
a small ornament at bottom.

Arrival postmarks were introduced by the
“Stadtpost” in Oetober 1852, Small single
cireles with the date (day and month in
figures) and the distribution number, for
example “No.5”, eame into use, The Danish
post office also introduced arrival markings
at the same time. They were small semi-
circles, inseribed K.D.O.P.A., with date and
distribution number, There were various



additional markings for registered letters,
foreign mail, efe. In the thirties, disinfeeted
letters reeeived at Travemiinde a cirenlar
disinfection marking, with the Lubeek shield
of arms in the eenter and the inseription
SANITAETS - COMMISSION / TRAVE-
MUNDE.,

The ink used for all pre-stamp postmarks
was generally black, but a number of them
are also known in red, especially those dur-
ing the French oecupation, when for paid
letters this eolor was usually used, and, as
execptions, the first double ecirele of the
“Stadtpost™ and the seript straight line of
the Hanover post office.

When postage stamps were introduced by
the “Stadtpost” on January 1, 1859, the
problem of cancelling arose. In this respeet,
a rather wvascillating poliey was followed.
First, until Mareh 3, 1859, the regular town
postmarks were used to eaneel the stamps,
usually putting another strike of the post-
mark alongside the stamps on the eover. On
March 3, 1859, a new regulation was issued
which radically changed the method of ean-
celling. Now the stamps were to be ean-
celled by blue pen lines and the town post-
mark stamped alongside. As reason was given
that the eaneelling with the town postmark
was not suffieient. This method of eancelling
lasted until January 26, 1861, on which day
the three post offices obtained special can-
cellers to be used to eaneel the stamps, again
with the town postmark alongside. The ex-
ample of Hamburg and Bergedorf scems fo
have been influential in the introduetion of
the new eancellation method. It was used
until the middle of 1864, when the further
use of the speeial eancellers was discontinued
and eancellation with the ftown postmarks
again beeame the rule, In this way a cirele
was eompleted, returning to the first method
of eaneelling which at the end proved to be
the most practiecal one. New special ean-
cellers were still introduced in the same
year, but only for special purposes.

The town postmarks of the “Stadtpost™,
used during the first two months for the
caneelling, originated during the pre-stamp
period. They were all double cireles. The
main office used two types of sueh post-
marks, both with the inseription LUEBECK
at top and the date—day and month in
figures—in the eenter. The first had a small
ornament consisting of three parts at bottom,
the second the hour of the day, without or
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with added “F”, “N* or “A” for the morning,
afternoon and evening hours, The post office
at the railroad station used a similar double
cirele, inseribed BAHNHOF LUEBECK at
top (with a dot before and after the in-
seription) and with the indieation of the
train (“Zug") at bottom, for example “II
Z" for the mail forwarded with the second
train of the day. The post office at Trave-
miinde used the much smaller double cirele
of the pre-stamp period, TRAVEMUNDE at
top, date (day and month in figures) in the
center and a small ornament at bottom. Only
these four town postmarks were used during
the initial period of the use of postage
stamps.

The second period, in whiech pen cancel-
lation was the rule lasted almost two years.
Al three “Stadtpost” offiees used blue
writing ink for the eancelling. It is claimed
that Travemiinde also used black writing ink,
but we have not seen a genuine cover with
such a eancellation. Red pen ecaneellations
are also reported, but we have never seen a
gennine one on eover, One of the four town
postmarks deseribed above was stamped
alongside on the covers with pen-caneelled
stamps.

The third period started on January 26,
1861, on which day all three post offices of
the “Stadtpost” obtained identical special
cancellers, whieh consisted of five 3/4mm.
bars of 18mm. length, spaced 4 to 41Zmm.
While the canceller of Travemiinde was used
very little and therefore remained in good
shape (Fig. 125), the cancellers of the two
other post offices, especially that of the main
office, were affected by the use and show
more or less worn and bent outer lines,
Again one of the town postmarks was stamp-
ed alongside the stamps on the eover.

The last period, which started middle of
1864—the exaet date is unknown, as no Te-
gulation ordering the change in ecancelling
proeedure has been found—saw the return
of the town postmarks as ecancellers. For
this purpose, the main post office used a
double cirele similar to that of the initial
period but slightly smaller, 1t had the hour
indication, with and without added letter, at
bottom; oceasionally, this indieation was
omitted. In 1864, again a speeial canceller,
a three-ring with an “L’ in the eenter, was
introdueed, but as it seems was only used on
mail to Sechleswig-Holstein. It is probable
that it replaced the Danish “3” eanceller
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when the service to Sehleswig-Holstein was
taken over by the “Stadtpost” on April 1,
1864, ITn 1866, a horseshoe type postmark was
introduced which had LUBECK, flanked

< by an asterisk on each side, and the date—

day, month and year—as well as the hour in
the center. It was used only oceasionally,
In 1867, the double circle was replaced by
a single cirele with sans-serif inseriptions,
LUEBECK at top, date (day and month in
figures) in center and St. PLAL at bottom. Tt
was used for eancelling Lubeck stamps for
a few months only and therefore is found
rather infrequently. From Mareh 1, 1866 on
the stamps on money orders were eancelled
with the postmark of the “Fahrpostamt”
section of the main post office, This post-
mark, from the pre-stamp period, with
F.P.A. iustead of the hour indieation at
bottom, was used as canceller only for the
stamps on money orders. The post office at
the railroad station still used the double
cirele of the initial period, but in 1863, it
was replaced by a straight line LUBECK
BAHNHOEF in two lines. The post office at
Travemiinde also first continued its double
cirele postmark, now again as canceller. A
speeial three-ring canceller similar to that
at the main post office but with “T" in the
center, was introduced in 1864; it is rare,
as it was used only on mail to Sehleswig-
Holstein, In 1867, a single eirele with TRA-
VEMUNDE in sans-serif letters, date (day
and month in figures) in the cenfer and a
small ornament at bottom, came into use.

The postmarks of the travelling railroad
post of fices which had Lubeck as a terminal
also can be found used as caneellers. Only
one of these postmarks, used on the Lubeck-
Biichen line, was a postmark of the “Stadt-
post”. Tt was a single cirele LUB.-BUCHEN-
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E.B. in sans-serif letters, with date (day
and month in figures) and train number in
the eenter, which was rarely used as ean-
celler. The other sueh postmarks are of
Prussian origin, in the same types as used at
other Prussian travelling railroad post offi-
ces, straight lines with the names of the
terminals with the date (day and month in
figures} and train number between. Such
postmarks are known LUBECK-HAMBURG
as well as LUBECK-LAUENBURG and vice
versa. On the former line, a boxed POST-
SPED. BUR/LUBECK-HAMBURG and vice
versa, with date (day and month in figures)
and train number, was also used.

In the rwral mail serviee, a boxed PER
LANDPOST was stamped on the letters, Of
other additional markings, only a Dboxed
RECOM. ftor registered letters is of im-
portance. A eireular marking B.K L. (Brief-
Kasten Lubeck) is reported for letters mail-
el in letter boxes.

When during the 1848 rebellion against
Denmark Sehleswig-Holstein introduced post-
age stamps, they were also used by the Sehles.
wig-Holstein mail service in Lubeek, con-
ducted by the “Stadtpost”. As at the post
offices in Schleswig-Holstein, speeial ean-
cellers were used which were eireles of bars
with a numeral in the center, “20” for Lu-
beek. The double eirele LURBECK of the
“Stadtpost”, with year date at bottom, was
stamped alongside the adhesives. Sometimes
the use of the “20" canceller was omitted and
the town postmark also used to cancel the
stamps.

The Thurn and Taxis postal serviee, which
first introduced stamps on January 1, 1852,
used its last pre-stamp postmark, the semi-
cirele with year date, as a canceller. But
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on July 1, 1853, in aceordance with the
new regulations for all Thurn and Taxis
post offices, a speeial four-ring numeral
eanecller “302” was introduced at the Lubeck
post office and remained in use for adhesives
and envelope stamps until the closing of the
post office. There are two types, one with
the numeral 4mm. high, the other 514mm.
high. The latter is rare, as it was either used
at the railroad station post offiee, or at the
main  post office for only a short time
before it was closed in 1867. The town
postmarks were stamped alongside, but on
rare oeeasions, probably only by error, they
served also as caneellers. First the semi-
cirele was used for this purpose, them, in
1854, a new double cirele LUEBECK/F.TH.
wTAX.P.A., with date (day, month and
hour) and year (the latter divided on the
sides) was introdueed, whiech from 1861 on
was used without year date. Eventually, in
1866, a single circle LUEBECK.TH.&TX,
in Roman capitals, with date and hour in
the center, was introduced and remained
in use to the closing of the post office. At
the post office at the railroad station, from
its opening in 1856 on, a “302” eanceller was
used and a double cirele LUBECK BATIN-
HOF/TH.&TX., with date and hour in the
center and the divided year date at the sides,
stamped alongside.

The Danish postal serviee, when it in-
trodueed postage stamps on August 1, 1855,
simultaneously supplied the post offices at
Lubeck with speeial three-ring numeral ean-
cellers “3” which were to be used for ean-
celling the adhesives as well as later the
envelope stamps, Town postmarks were
stamped alongside the stamps on the covers,
but as an exeeption, probably used by error,
they also come as caneellation on stamps.
From 1865 on, when the numeral eancellers
were gradually withdrawn in the mother
country, the town postmarks were more fre-
quently used as eancellers, toward the end
probably exelusively. The first postmark
used during the stamp period was the pre-
stamp single eirele K.D.O.P.A. LUBECK in
Roman eapitals, with date and year. Tt was
replaced in 1863 by a single eircle with the
same inseription, but mow in sans-serif
capitals and with the hour instead of the
year. The Danish post office at the railroad
station used a “3” canceller for the stamps
and put the pre-stamp double circle along-
side on the mail. The “3” eanceller exists in
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several types, one of which was for some time
so worn that it showed only traces of the
outer circle and looked like a double-ring
canceller, The Danish stamps on mail obtain-
ed from the subordinated letter ecolleeting
ageneies at Gross-Griinaun (Lauenburg) and
Reinfeld (Holstein), which had mno post-
marks, were cancelled by the Danish post
office at Lubeck in the same way as those
posted at Lubeck proper. Only manuseript
notations on the mail—town name and date
—ilisclose the origin,

The last town postmarks of the three
“Stadtpost” offices were continued in use
after Janwary 1, 1868, and they ecan be
found on stamps of the North German
Confederation, the railroad station and
Travemiinde postmarks also on the 1872 issue
of the German Empire,

Summarizing the use of the various can-
celling methods, first for the “Stadtpost™,
it seems obvious from the regulations fhat
the 1859 issue is most frequently found with
the five-bar canceller, A little less frequent
is the pen eaneellation, but it is so unpopular
that copies off cover do not feteh more than
unused ones, and even authentic examples on
cover, with the town postmark alongside,
sell for a fraction of the price of covers on
which the stamps are caneelled by a post-
mark. Cancellation by the town postmarks
was in regular use only for two months and
is therefore the rarest kind of cancellation
on the 1859 issue, although oecasional eane-
ellations of this kind oceurred also in later
vears. Checking of the available material of
used stamps of the 1859 issue reveals that
about 759% of all stamps show bar eanc-
cllation and only 12149 each cancellation
by a town postmark or pen eancellation, The
1862 stamps without watermark were regu-
larly cancelled only by the five-bar eanc-
eller; they do not eome pen-caneelled on
mail, and eancellation with a town postmark
is a rare exception. The 1863 issue was at
first, for a little more than a year, eancelled
with the five-bar cancellers. It is consider-
ably rarer in this condition—although less
popular—than with a eaneellation by a town
postmark, which was practised for three and
a half years. The 1i4s of 1864 was intro-
duced just before the five-bar ecancellers
were discontinued, therefore it is rare with
such a caneellation, the regular one being
with a town postmark. The latter kind of
eancellation ean be found almost exclusively
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on the 134s of 1865. All other kinds of post-
marks, such as the “L” and “T" cancellers,
the postmarks of Travemiinde and those of
the travelling railroad post offices, are mueh
seareer than the regular postmarks, as are
all blue caneellations.

The envelopes were eancelled in the same
way as the adhesives, On the 1863 issue, we
find mainly the five-bar eaneceller, much less
frequently a town postmark, used to cancel
the stamp. For a short period the 1864 issue
was also eaneelled with the five-bar eanceller,
which is searce on this issue, then with the
various town postmarks, as well as the “L”
and “T" cancellers, all of whieh are the only
eancellations found on the 1865 and 1867
envelopes.

The first Sehleswig-Holstein stamps, the
1s and 2s of the 1850 issue, are both known
oused at Lubeck, but they are very rare,
especially on entires, The numeral “20” cane-
eller was usually used, less frequently the
town postmark of the Lubeck “Stadtpost”.
Of the Thurn and Taxis stamps used at
Lubeek, only the 1852 issue can be found
more frequently with town cancellation,
while all other issues bear the “302” eanceller
almost exelusively, The Danish stamps of the
issues before 1864 are almost always
found with the “3” canceller, and cane-
ellations with town postmarks are exceptions.
Only on the 1864 issue are the latfer canc-
cllations more frequent, but still not pre-
dominant, It has been elaimed that between
1855 and 1866 the Danish post office used
Swedish stamps for mail to Sweden. Aet-
ually stamps of the Sweden issues 1855 to
1862-66 exist with the “3" eancellation, but
as far as we could ascertain, they originate
from ship letters from Sweden for or in
transit through Lubeck, on which the stamps
remained uncancelled and were cancelled by
the Danish post office at Lubeek before such
mail was handed to the “Stadtpost”.

Sehdeswig-Holstein stamps of all 1864-65
issues, mainly the 114s denominations, ean
rather frequently be found with a eaneella-
tion of the Lubeck “Stadtpost”, espeeially
the “L" eanceller, less frequently a town
postmark and, as a rarity, the “T” eanceller.
Most of these enses have their origin in the
faet that three letter collecting agencies,
Gross-Griinan  (Lauvenburg), Reinfeld and
Stockelsdorf (Holstein), whieh were sub-
ordinated to the “Stadtpost” on Mareh 1,
1864 and January 1, 1865 respectively, had
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no postmarks of their own. They marked the
letters in manuseript with the town name and
date, but the Sechleswig-Holstein stamps
whieh franked them had to be eancelled by
the “Stadtpost” office. It seems possible that
the “L” and “T" eancellers were created
espeeially for that purpose, although ecr-
tainly not for that purpose alone, as they
are found more frequently on Lubeck stamps.
In any ease, the use of Lubeck “Stadtpost”
postmarks on Sehleswig-Holstein stamps was
in these eases an entirely regular one. But
there were probably also other eases where
Schleswig-Holstein stamps were used on mail
to Sehleswig-Holstein posted at the “Stadt-
post” offices, possibly by travellers, or when
Schleswig-Holstein stamps were received as
return postage: such use seems to have been
tolerated during the war-torn years of 1864-
66.

The Literature about Lubeek is almost
entirely in  German. Several monographs
exist, one of the earliest and probably the
best being that of Hugo Kritzsch, published
in 1895, the last one that of Josef Herzog,
which appeared in 1947, It is amazing how
little was accomplished in this field in the
more than fifty years between these two
publications, as the latter produees very little
factual data which was not already published
in the earlier monographs. Recently, Hans
Grobe has provided a suitable guide and
good information in the Lubeck chapter of
his Old German States Catalog. It will be
understandable also to a collector who has
a limited knowledge of German. But if he
wants to go into the more intricate matters
of Lubeck’s postal history or its canecella-
tions, the colleetor will not get very far with-
out consulting the German philatelie litera-
ture. The philatelic student, when searching
through the literature, will find that Lubeck
is relatively a not too well explored field
whieh has a surprisingly large number of
unsolved problems and unanswered questions.
We believe that it would be a rewarding but
certainly diffieult undertaking to try to
solve all the riddles and to write a new
thorough monograph of the stamps and post-
marks of Lubeck.

In the Seott Catalog, the 14 postage
stamps of Lubeck are listed wunused at
almost $170, used at more than $720. All
stamps are prieed higher used than unused.
The lowest prieed stamps unused are $3.50,
used $7.00, the highest priced omes unused
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$50.00 and uscd $125.00. Unused 809%—to
bhe exaet 11—of the stamps eatalog less than
$10 eaech, which faet should make it rather
easy to colleet Lubeek in unused condition.
Used only four stamps are priced at $10 or
less. Although Lubeck does mot provide a
challenge to the eollector of unused stamps,
a eolleetor who wants to have everything
used will have a more diffieult time. He
will not have too hard a time if he is
satisfied with stamps off cover, as such are
not very popular, espeeially when they have
bar cancellations. The real tough job is
reserved for the colleetor who wants to col-
leet Lubeck on entires, including postal
stationery. To obtain all fourteen denomina-
tions on entires and to get together all 18
different cntires of the envelopes in used
condition is a formidable task whieh only a
collector who has great patienee and consid-
erable means ean undertake. If le is very
condition econscious and is not satisfied with
single frankings, but is looking for ecombi-
nation and mixed frankings as well as
cnvelope eut squares on enfires, he uceds
still more patience and money. And if he
eventually considers the different kinds of
cancellation, he has a job on his hands which
will take a lifetime and a small fortune. A
colleetor of small or medium means had bet-
ter leave Lubeck alone, exeept in the frame of
a general eolleetion where he is satisfied
with a single unused or used copy. A young
and  wealthy collector may still start to
colleet Lubeck in the grand style, but we
will have to wait for many years before he
will be able to show us an outstanding
eollection,
(Next:

MISCELLANEOUS NEWS

® The nert issue of the MERCURY
STAMP JOURNAL is scheduled for May,
1960.

@ Our Editor will again travel in Europe
during the coming summer. He will leave
New York on May 20 and stay in London
(Mount Royal Hotel, Marble Areh, W.1)
from May 27 to June 1. He will then visit
the eontinent and travel in Franee, Switzer-
land, Germany and Austria until July 2,
when he will return to London. He will stay
there for the duration of the London Inter-
national Stamp Exhibition and afterwards
until July 27, to be back in New York on

XXVII. Lurembourg)

1é

August 1. A detailed itinerary will be pub-
lished in the next issue.

@ Ierbert J. Bloch, partner of our firm,
will be in London during the International
Stamp Exhibition and afterwards travel on
the continent. Ilis itinerary will be published
in the next issue.

® The “Polska 1960, the International
Philatelic Exhibition seheduled to be held
in Warsaw from Sept. 3 to 11, 1960, has
introdueed an interesting new method for
exhibiting large collections. As it is very ex-
pensive to ship all the albums of a large
colleetion to the exhibition and exposes them
to possible damage, “Polska 607 will not
ask that all albums be sent there, but will,
with the permission of the F.I.P., aeeept
as a substitute a description of such albums
certified by the National Federation of the
country in whieh the exhibitor lives. The
Judges—who, by the way, are mever very
eager to examine the albums which accomp-
any a colleetion—will accept such a certifi-
cate as equivalent to the showing of the
albums themselves. An exeellent idea which
will save unnecessary expenses and should
be adopted by all future international ex-
hibitions,

® For the International Philatelic Exhibi-
tion in Budapest, which is planned for 1961,
a small pamphlet in five languages has been
published, inviting the philatelists of the
world to partieipate.

® The “International Philatelic Congress”,
to be held at Barcelona, March 26 to April
S—see our note on page 90—econtinues to
issue small pamphlets (Nos.9 and 10) which
contain a weird mixture of artieles, eartoons
ete.,, but no faetual information about the
purpose and program of this unusual under-
taking. As we ean see it, it seems to be mere-
Iy a field day for philatelic politicians but
will not produce any worthwhile philatelie
accomplishment.

® INTERPEX, organized by Industrial
Exhibitions, Ine., will be held from March
25 to 27, 1960 at the Trade Show Building
(Eighth Ave. and 35th St.) in New York.
A number of organizations will participate,
and several meetings are scheduled in the
framework of the exhibition.

® A National Philatelie Ezxhibition in
Bratislava (Czechoslovakia) will be held
from Sept. 24 to Oct. 9, 1960, under the
motto “For Peace and International Coopera-
tion”. It is organized by the Federation of
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